

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Soil & Tillage Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/still

A review of the changes in the soil pore system due to soil deformation: A hydrodynamic perspective

A. Alaoui^{a,*}, J. Lipiec^b, H.H. Gerke^c

^a Hydrology Group, Department of Geography, University of Bern, Hallerstrasse 12, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland ^b Institute of Agrophysics, Polish Academy of Sciences, P.O. Box 201, 20-290 Lublin, Poland ^c Institute of Soil Landscape Research, Leibniz-Centre for Agricultural Landscape Research (ZALF), Eberswalder Strasse 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 February 2011 Received in revised form 9 June 2011 Accepted 12 June 2011

Keywords: Soil deformation Soil pore connectivity Pore geometry Water retention curve Hydraulic conductivity function

ABSTRACT

Compaction and shearing, as well as the rearrangement of soil aggregates and clods due to shrinkage, among other processes, can strongly affect the pore geometry of agricultural soils. These soil structural changes directly affect soil water movement by altering the hydraulic properties that are commonly described by the soil water retention curve (WRC) and the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity function (HCF). This review focuses on recent advances in the understanding and evaluation of changes in hydraulic functions in relation to compacted soil. The development of hydromechanical models due to recent advances with more sophisticated methods enables quantification of the effects of compaction on the hydraulic conductivity functions at the pore scale of aggregated soil. However, it remains unclear how to up-scale the dynamic, in terms of inter-aggregate pore models, into the continuum-scale dual-porosity models in the form of effective parameters, particularly regarding effective hydraulic properties for the preferential flow domain. While hydromechanical models fail to describe water flow and hydraulic conductivity at the relevant scales and water saturation ranges, the continuum-based flow models rely on effective parameters that are mainly empirical or are based on fitting model results to data. Input data usually do not address temporal changes in the arrangement of aggregates induced by soil compaction and shrinkage. This review presents a concept that summarizes the changes in structural and textural porosity upon compaction. It suggests focusing on the extension of existing hydraulic and hydromechanical models to include the pore structural changes that account for the movement and rearrangement of soil aggregates and the resulting changes in the soil hydraulic properties which basically manifest the effects of shearing and compaction on water flow.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	General considerations	2
3.	Hydrodynamic aspects.	3
	3.1. Pore system	3
	3.2. Water flow and solute transport	4
	3.3. Water retention curve	4
	3.4. Saturated hydraulic conductivity	5
	3.5. Unsaturated hydraulic conductivity	6
	3.6. Infiltration capacity	6
4.	Modelling water retention and water dynamic in compacted soil	6
	4.1. Hydromechanical models	6
	4.2. Water retention curve	8

E-mail address: alaoui@giub.unibe.ch (A. Alaoui).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Hydrology Group, Department of Geography, University of Bern, Hallerstrasse 12, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland. Tel.: +41 31 6318557; fax: +41 31 6318511.

^{0167-1987/\$ –} see front matter \circledcirc 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.still.2011.06.002

	4.3.	Hydraulic conductivity function	8		
	4.4.	Dual-porosity models	9		
	4.5.	Shrinkage characteristic curve	9		
5.	A conceptual model				
6.	Conclu	usions	12		
	Ackno	weldgements	12		
	Refere	ences	12		

1. Introduction

Cultivated soils are particularly affected by soil deformation (Berli et al., 2004; Håkansson and Reeder, 1994). It has frequently been recognized that compaction reduces total porosity and increases bulk density while also reducing the proportion of larger pores that play an important role in water movement and solute transport, nutrient availability, aeration, and crop productivity, owing to the limitation in root growth (e.g., Domżał et al., 1991; Mapfumo et al., 1998; Arocena, 2000). Agricultural field operations employed at various levels of mechanization depend heavily on wheeled tractors as a source of traction power. It is common practice to use the same tractor for different operational requirements. Hence soils with different load-bearing capacities are exposed to repeated compressive stress of the same magnitude. This results in the formation of a dense soil layer which has low hydraulic conductivity and aeration (e.g., Lipiec and Hatano, 2003).

Soil structure may be significantly altered due to either mechanical stress (e.g., tractor traffic, tillage and cattle trampling) or hydraulic stress from natural wetting and drying cycles. While many studies have investigated soil compaction caused by wheel traffic, few investigations (e.g., Cui et al., 2010; Keller et al., 2002; Berli et al., 2004) deal with the extent of soil compaction on agricultural land due to tracked heavy machines. Track-type tractors have the potential to cause less soil compaction because the tracks usually have a greater surface area than wheels for tractors with equivalent power ratings (Brown et al., 1992). Pagliai et al. (2003) have shown that the effect of soil compaction with a rubber-tracked tractor was limited to the surface layer only.

In addition to wheeled and tracked machines, stock trampling affects soil in different ways, depending on several conditions: (i) trampling intensity; (ii) soil moisture (iii) soil type; (iv) plant type; (v) field slope and (vi) land use type (e.g., Zhao et al., 2010; Krümmelbein et al., 2006). Trampling-induced soil compaction is characterized by its spatial heterogeneous distribution. It mainly affects pore geometry (or structure) at the soil surface (Nie et al., 2001; Vzzotto et al., 2000) and topsoil matrix (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006). The depth of soil compaction induced by pugging depends on animal weight, soil moisture, hoof size and kinetic energy.

The structure of soils can also change continuously through water menisci forces during drying and wetting cycles (hydraulic stress) (Peng et al., 2007). In non-rigid soils, two shrinkage components with vertical and horizontal directions can be quantified. Vertical shrinkage results in soil subsidence, while horizontal shrinkage produces soil cracks. Pre-existing soil cracks induce surface water to reach more directly the water level as preferential flow (Liu et al., 2003) and potentially lead to unintended contamination of ground- and surface waters by agrochemicals (e.g., Borggaard and Gimsing, 2008; Jarvis, 2007).

To date, a number of methods have been used to demonstrate the occurrence and effects of soil compaction. The most commonly used parameters are bulk density and total porosity (Boone, 1988; da Silva et al., 1994), macroporosity (Alakukku, 1996), penetration resistance (PR) (Pagliai, 1998), air permeability (Ball, 1981; Reszkowska et al., 2011), saturated hydraulic conductivity, *K*_{sat} (Alakukku, 1996), pre-consolidation pressure (Horn, 1981; Kirby, 1991), dye surface density (Kulli et al., 2003; Alaoui and Helbling, 2006; Alaoui and Goetz, 2008) and infiltration capacity (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006; Blanco-Canqui et al., 2010).

The change in bulk density due to compaction is a global indicator that integrates information about the total change in the volume of voids of soil under consideration. But it cannot account for changes in the volume distribution of these voids, their connectivity, or the changes in this connectivity (e.g., Vogeler et al., 2006), especially during elastic compaction, which has a significant impact on hydraulic properties (Lenhard, 1986). In fact, it has been shown that compaction results in not only discontinuity of the structure between top and subsoil that promotes ponding at the soil surface (Gysi et al., 1999; Kulli et al., 2003; Alaoui and Helbling, 2006) but also a change in the proportion of textural and structural porosity (e.g., Bruand and Cousin, 1995; Richard et al., 2001).

Soil compaction and shearing caused by external factors affect pore geometry and consequently water retention (Wu et al., 1997; Richard et al., 2001; Tarantino and Tombolato, 2005; Dexter et al., 2008; Gregory et al., 2010; Li and Zhang, 2009; Wójciga et al., 2009; Matthews et al., 2010). In most soils, especially fine-textural soils, there is also a decrease in the pore volume as the soil shrinks (Simms and Yanful, 2001; Braudeau et al., 2005; Whalley et al., 2008; Li and Zhang, 2009). Both deformation and shrinkage have significant implications for soil physical functions (Gregory et al., 2010).

The purpose of this paper is to review recent advances in the understanding and evaluation of functional changes in compacted soil with respect to water retention and water flow.

2. General considerations

Soil pore systems can be defined as the ensemble of the voids or spaces existing in a given volume of soil. Water flowing through connected pores involves the notion of structural hierarchy (Brewer, 1964; Hadas, 1987; Dexter, 1988; Dexter et al., 2008). The mean sizes of the pores separating the aggregate particles at progressively higher levels are themselves progressively bigger (e.g., Dexter et al., 2008). The spatial arrangement or clustering of primary soil particles into secondary units called aggregates or peds, (and clods often in cultivated soil) is known as *soil structure*.

The solid phase of soils consists of discrete units called primary soil particles. These particles may vary widely in size, shape and composition. In this study, we define *textural (or matrix) porosity* as the pore space between the primary particles or intra-aggregate pores (or micropores).

Structural porosity is the pore space between micro-aggregates or aggregates and contains macropores such as inter-pedal voids, biopores or desiccation cracks that have a significant effect on the water flow and solute transport processes and offer greater potential for undisturbed growth of *plant* roots.

Biopores and the network of inter-aggregate pores, cracks and other structural voids can act as preferential flows through which most of the volume of the bulk soil matrix can be bypassed during infiltration from storms (e.g., Beven and Germann, 1981; Gerke, 2006; Jarvis, 2007). Efficiency of preferential flow paths is measured by pore morphology (Brewer, 1964), geometry (Perret et al., 1999a,b), hydrodynamic aspect and functionality (e.g., Bouma et al., 1977; Beven and Germann, 1982; Chen et al., 1993), equivalent pore diameter (Sekera, 1951; Luxmoore, 1981), or size (Velde et al., 1996). In soil science, the term "*macropore*" has been used to represent the whole spectrum of pores ranging from interaggregate pores, shrinkage cracks, and fissures to earthworm and root channels (Tisdall and Oades, 1982; Elliott, 1986; Oades, 1993; Amezketa, 1999; Braudeau et al., 2004; Bronick and Lal, 2005; Abou Najm et al., 2010). In this review, the term "macropore" is used to define the non-capillary biopore in which water flows under gravity. A mean diameter >30 µm is used to define macropore if no diameter is specified; otherwise, it is set according to the specific study cited in this review.

The dry soil bulk density and associated total porosity is the most general and frequently used parameter to characterize the state of compactness and physical properties of soil (Panayiotopoulos et al., 1994; da Silva et al., 1994; Assouline, 2006a, 2006b). However, its usefulness in characterizing compaction effects on storage and transport of water and air in terms of connectivity and continuity is not obvious. This is due to the fact that at given bulk density for the same soil, the pore geometry and continuity can differ due e.g. to soil management practices. For this reason bulk density alone is not always a sensitive indicator of soil compaction effects, particularly with respect to transport properties (e.g. Gebhardt et al., 2009; Horn et al., 2003; Lipiec et al., 2003). However, in the case of various soils, a particular bulk density may indicate an extremely compact state in one soil with reference to its natural uncompacted state, but a very loose state in another one due to differences in texture and organic matter content. To overcome this problem, the actual bulk density is expressed as a percentage of the reference-compaction state of a given soil known as "degree of compactness" or "relative compactness" (Håkansson, 1990; Håkansson and Lipiec, 2000). In the same way, the pore space can be quantified by the void ratio frequently used in soil mechanics and soil physics and defined as the volume of the pores per unit volume of solid. The fact that the denominator is constant enables the void ratio of different types of pores to be compared, even in soil where pore space may vary with shrinkage/swelling processes or under compaction/shearing (e.g., Dexter et al., 2008). Zhang et al. (2006) also used water volume ratio expressed as the volume of water per unit volume of solid phase, which does not depend on the changes in soil bulk density and is appropriate variable to use for swelling soils. These relative compaction parameters are more useful than bulk density or total porosity in studies of the effects of field traffic on soil structure and consequently on root and crop response (Canarache, 1991; Håkansson and Lipiec, 2000). By using the relative compaction instead of the bulk density performance and applying the concept of the least limiting water range, LLWR (defined as the ideal soil water content range, in which the limitations for root growth were due to the availability of water, air, and PR were minimal) are enhanced (da Silva et al., 1997).

3. Hydrodynamic aspects

Hydrodynamics here are defined as interactions between forces of moving fluid and soil structure related to soil pore aggregate systems. In fluid dynamics, hydrodynamics describe the liquids in motion and their various properties such as velocity, pressure, density, and temperature, as functions of space and time (Corey, 1994). Not only particles but also soil aggregates and clods are subject to movement under intense external perturbations, as during repeated wheeling, leading to the formation of a coherent and very compacted soil horizon (Horn et al., 2003). The nonrigidity of soil systems can easily be observed in the field; most soil properties change dynamically with time (e.g., Horn, 2004; Horn et al., 2003). The dynamic involves coupled interaction between soil mechanical and hydraulic processes (e.g., Horn et al., 2003; Horn and Smucker, 2005). The management of arable soils basically attempts a soil structure optimization between sufficient stability for cultivation and favourable soil ecological conditions for crop growth and environmental functioning (e.g., Roger-Estrade et al., 2000).

3.1. Pore system

A dual-porosity medium is defined as a pore system continuum, characterized by two types of pores: structural and textural. Interaggregate and intra-aggregate soil porosities have been used to designate the dual soil pore system. For preferential flow and soil hydraulic modelling (e.g., Gerke and van Genuchten, 1993), the two-pore domain concept was applied for flow in structured soil, assuming still rigidity of the soil. With respect to describing the effects of compaction on mechanical properties of structured soil, different studies carried out on soil compaction showed that up to a certain level of compaction, depending of the amplitude of the strength, the aggregates remain rigid and only the inter-aggregate structure is affected by the compaction. In fact, macroporosity is more sensitive to compaction than total porosity (Alakukku, 1996). Li and Zhang (2009) reported that the volume of the compressible inter-aggregate pores is closely related to the final void ratio of the compacted soil and that changes to inter-aggregate pores are dominant during compaction, but changes to intra-aggregate pores are dominant during saturation and drying. In fact, in clay soil the volume of intra-aggregate pores was found to agree closely with the volume of pore water, providing support for the assumption that in an unsaturated aggregate microstructure the clay aggregations are saturated (Monroy et al., 2010).

The pore geometry has a large influence on the compressibility of soils. In fact, soils with a high proportion of vertically oriented pores are less susceptible to compaction (even more for cylindrical pore shapes e.g., Schäffer et al., 2008) than soils with predominantly horizontal pores (Hartge and Bohne, 1983) and the interaggregate pores in tilled soils (Schäffer et al., 2008). Due to low stability, the tillage macropores (inter-aggregate pores) are not efficient except in the period immediately after tillage when they are not effectively isolated (i.e. not "relict") (Dexter and Richard, 2009). As a consequence, tillage leaves the structural pores that are mostly planar (i.e. micro-cracks) as the principal pathways for hydraulic conductivity in most field situations. This highlights the important role of the cylindrical (bio)pores in soil that may still enable sufficient soil drainage and aeration when other pores have already collapsed. Jégou et al. (2002) showed that soil compaction helps to close numerous pores, reduces the mean length of burrows, and increases the number of fragmented burrows. They concluded that soil compaction affects the functionality of burrow systems to a large extent by affecting their continuity.

It is known that the first pass of a wheel causes a major portion of the total soil compaction (Bakker and Davis, 1995), whereas repeated traffic with low axle loads can affect the subsoil and the effects can persist for a long time (Balbuena et al., 2000). Servadio et al. (2001) found that a massive structure was evident for samples subjected to four passes of a rubber-tracked (RT) tractor, characterized by few and thin, elongated pores (300–500 μ m). Lipiec and Håkansson (2000) reported that the number of passes increases the degree of compactness from 81 for zero passes to 93 for eight passes, also reducing the macroporosity from 13.4 to 5.6 (% v/v). Pagliai et al. (2003) reported that after four passes of a wheeled tractor, the traffic caused considerable damage to soil structure, resulting in a complete disappearance of the elongated pores (>500 μ m) and the reduction of the transmission pores (50–500 μ m). They reported that the damage was more pronounced after the passage of a rubber-tracked tractor, where the transmission pores were reduced from 24.2 to 2.2%. This modification resulted in a more compacted massive structure in which most present pores were completely isolated in the soil matrix. Horn et al. (2003) noted full homogenization of the pore system with increasing wheeling. Kim et al. (2010) conducted field experiments on Mexico silt loam with field treatments of uniformly Compacted (C) and Non-Compacted (NC) plots. They found an increase in bulk density of C treatment of 8%, and a decrease in saturated hydraulic conductivity of 69%. The CTmeasured number of pores also decreased by 71%, the number of macropores (>1000 µm diameter) by 69% and coarse mesopores (200-1000 µm diameter) by 75%, with the most pronounced effect in the upper 10 cm of the soil layer. Similar results were reported by Udawatta and Anderson (2008) and Udawatta et al. (2008). This damage may reach deeper soil horizons. Dumbeck (1984) carried out traffic experiments on arable land with heavy excavators (weighing up to 4.7×10^4 kg, mean stress in the contact area up to 100 kPa) under dry (-300 to -1000 hPa soil water potential) and wet (\approx -60 hPa soil water potential) soil conditions. He found a decrease in the amount of macropores to 0.65 m in the dry and 1 m in the wet soil.

Gebhardt et al. (2009) reported that a decrease of coarse pores $(>50 \,\mu\text{m})$ in their sandy Podzol was accompanied by a relative increase of intermediate pores (10-50 µm) already at loading of 70 kPa and medium pore size $(0.2-10 \ \mu m)$ of 230 kPa. Despite the decrease of wide coarse pores in the Podzol due to compaction, neither significant change in K_{sat} nor in bulk density was shown. On the other hand, in contrast to the clay-rich soils, sandy soil showed a distinct decrease in the air conductivity subsequent to compaction, as a growing fraction of the remaining coarse porosity increasingly filled with water and then no longer conducted air. In fact, it was shown that the high coarse porosity of the sands is predominantly texture-dependent and enhancement of the stability of these soils during compaction due to grain-to-grain contact points occurs without resulting in an entire loss of their coarse porosity (Gebhardt et al., 2009). This implies a change in the matric potential with saturation under stress conditions until no more air is conducted. In contrast, more finely textured soils are extremely susceptible in terms of harmful compaction. The authors concluded that soil-protection strategies should be focused on such vulnerable soils. In another study on silty clay loam (Blanco-Canqui et al., 2010), a decrease of the same pores $(>50 \ \mu m)$ by wheel compaction was accompanied by considerable reduction of cumulative infiltration, saturated hydraulic conductivity, soil water retention at 0 kPa, plant-available water, and effective porosity.

Another important aspect of pores is the tortuosity of the pore system, since continuous large pores play an important role in allowing roots, gas, and water to penetrate into the soil. The expanding use of third generation X-ray microtomography enhances new applications of CT for more detailed descriptions of soil compaction processes, including local changes in soil structural pore space characteristics and deformation (Peth et al., 2010), decreases in connectivity of macropores (Schäffer et al., 2007, 2008), and increases in the fraction of spherical pores (and thus the convexity of the pore space) with no clear effect on the orientation of pores (Schäffer et al., 2007).

3.2. Water flow and solute transport

Appropriate methods for investigating the dynamic of flow consist of direct measurements of water and solute transport in soils. The most common and established methods for this purpose employ various types of water samplers or lysimeters (e.g., porous ceramic suction cups, zero tension pan lysimeters, gravity drainable soil columns, passive capillary fiber glass wick samplers (PCAPs), weighing lysimeters and tile drainage samplers).

Most of the transport processes in soil occur through its pores via the soil solution which refers to soil water that contains various agricultural chemicals (fertilizers and/or pesticides). The decrease of the macropore space combined with the distortion of structural porosity due to compaction induces solute transport in small and low mobile transport domains that results in slower solute migration (Heitman et al., 2007).

A recent study by Besson et al. (2011) using retardation factor (the ratio between piston-flow velocity and the mean solute transport velocity) showed that the retardation of solute movement can be due to both dense seedbed aggregates and the presence of a plough pan. Limited water and solute transport in tightly compacted zones may promote solute fluxes towards preferential pathways as wormholes or activated macropores (provided that water ponding occurs at the soil surface) (Kulli et al., 2003) and more permeable zones (Coquet et al., 2005). This results in solutes by-passing the shallower soil surface horizon where transformation processes (degradation of pollutants by biological activity) and retention processes are the most active as a consequence of environmental pollution (Coquet et al., 2005). Some authors (Coquet et al., 2005, Besson et al., 2011) reported that the redirected solute flow resulted in an "umbrella" (shadow) effect in deeper soil. In a study of Besson et al. (2011) the "umbrella" effects on breakthrough curves (the long tailing) and associated low permeability in transport were observed at a depth of 0.15 m as well as at depths of 0.30 and 0.45.

The effect of soil compaction on solute transport is related to the type and nature of the given chemical compound. Sadegh-Zadeh et al. (2008) reported that after irrigation the movement of nitrogen and potassium downward is reduced as the compaction level increases, but the movement of phosphorus is increased because of high moisture and movement by diffusion.

Although the measurement methods may capture both matrix and macropore flow under both saturated and unsaturated soil conditions (Boll et al., 1992), they are tedious and time consuming. Therefore, numerous models were developed to investigate water flow and solute transport through preferential pathways, crossing the vadose zone. As indicated in review papers, predicting movement of water and chemicals is mostly based on the Darcy/Richards one-dimensional flow equation (e.g.; Lipiec et al., 2003; Šimůnek et al., 2003; Jarvis, 2007), and the effect of soil compaction is considered by changing hydraulic conductivity, water retention, root growth and physicochemical and biological transformation of the chemicals (Lipiec et al., 2003). However, such modelling approaches of solute transport in soil may still be found inappropriate when solutes are transported by preferential flow processes (Coquet et al., 2005).

3.3. Water retention curve

Soil moisture status is the most important factor influencing soil compaction processes (Soane and van Ouwerkerk, 1994). Zhang et al. (2006) applied two treatments, C1 and C2 (corresponding to an increase in bulk density by 10 and 20%, respectively) to two silty loam sites, Heyang (Chromic Cambisol) and Mihzi (Calcic Cambisol). They found that water retention curves for both the surface (0–0.05 m) and subsurface (0.10–0.15 m) layers at the two sites were significantly changed by tested levels of soil compaction. They found that a high level of compaction C2 significantly decreased the water content of the surface layer at tensions of <2 kPa for Heyang and \leq 8 kPa for the Mihzi site.

In other studies, analysis of water retention curves showed that compaction results in a decrease of water content at high matric

Table 1

Relevant studies showing mixed changes in micro- and macropore domain including the increase of "lacunar porosity".

Authors	Soil texture/ classification	Decrease of pore class of diameter D_1 (µm) (corresponding load and/or water potential)	Increase of pore volume class of diameter D_2 (μ m) (corresponding load and/or water potential)	Effect on hydraulic parameters
Bruand and Cousin (1995)	Clay loam/chromic luvisol	$D_1 > 5.6$ (compaction tests; 50 and 200 kPa, water potential of -1 kPa)	0.18 $<$ D_2 $<$ 5.6 (compaction tests; 50 and 200 kPa, water potential of -1 kPa)	K _{sat} ⁺
Richard et al. (2001)	Silt/orthic luvisol	$D_1 > 4$ (tractor of 81.4 kN, tyres pressure of 200 kPa)	$1 < D_2 < 4$ (tractor of 81.4 kN, tyres pressure of 200 kPa)	K ⁺ (water potential <-15 kPa)
Tarawally et al. (2004)	700–780gkg ⁻¹ clay/ Rhodic ferrasol	$D_1 > 50 \mu\text{m}$ (seven passes of a 10 Mg tractor)	$D_2 < 0.5$ (seven passes of a 10 Mg tractor)	TP ⁻
Koliji et al. (2006)	Sandy loam/n.d.	$2.5 < D_1 < 35$ (compaction test; suction of 400 kPa)	$0.15 < D_2 < 0.9$ (compaction test; suction of 400 kPa)	n.d.
Schäffer et al. (2007)	Restored soil/ eutric cambisol	D_1 (defined as pores drained at field capacity) Decrease of D_1 by 2% for 2 passes and by 8% for 10 passes	D_2 (=fine to intermediate pores, diameter not defined). Increase of D2 by 2% for 2 passes and by 5% for 10 passes	BD+
Gebhardt et al. (2009)	Medium sand/podzol	$D_1 > 50$ (compaction tests; 70 kPa)	10 < D ₂ < 50 (compaction tests; 70 kPa) 0.2 < D ₂ < 10 (compaction tests; 230 kPa)	$K_{\rm sat}^-$

TP: total porosity; BD: bulk density; K: hydraulic cond.; K_{sat}: saturated hydraulic cond. "-": not effective in reflecting treatment effect "+": effective in reflecting treatment effect "n.d." not defined.

potentials (from 0 to -10 kPa) and an increase of water content at low matric potentials (from -250 to -1550 kPa) (Walczak, 1977; Domżał, 1983; Kutílek and Nielsen, 1994; Ferrero and Lipiec, 2000). However, a slight effect occurs in the intermediate potential range. This reflects the fact that, under compaction, as the proportion of large pores decreases, the proportion of small pores increases (Assouline et al., 1997; van Dijck and van Asch, 2002) or remains unaffected (Matthews et al., 2010). The two processes are linked by an "inflection point" (Dexter, 2004a) above which, for soil drying, mainly structural pores are emptying and below which mainly textural pores are emptying. Based on mercury porosimetry analysis, Richard et al. (2001) showed that the decrease in the volume of pores retaining water between -5 and -20 kPa corresponds to a decrease in the volume of pores larger than 4 μ m. In the same way, they attributed the increase in pore volume retaining water at potentials ranging between -20 and -80 kPa to increase in the volume of pores between 1 and $4 \mu m$. They suggested that the increase in water retained at potentials between -20 and -80 kPa is due to the formation of relict structural pores being remnants of structural pores distorted during traffic and accessible only through the necks of textural (lacunar) pores (Bruand et al., 1997; Richard et al., 2001). This new structure resulted from the destruction of structural pores. Relevant studies on this topic are listed in Table 1. Applying pressures of 50 and 200 kPa for a water potential of -1 kPa, Bruand and Cousin (1995) reported a drastic decrease in the structural porosity of a diameter larger than 5.6 µm, resulting in increases in lacunar porosity of 16 and 33% respectively when compared to original values. As a consequence, water retention curves (WRCs) are mainly altered at low pressure heads (from 0 to 10 kPa) and at high pressure heads (from 300 to 1500 kPa) (Kutílek and Nielsen, 1994; Ferrero and Lipiec, 2000). Compacted soils present flattened WRCs, with a reduction of the slope of the WRC at the inflection point (Dexter, 2004a; Assouline et al., 1997; Hayashi et al., 2006). It was also suggested that relict structural pores and structural pores could interact to determine together the hydraulic properties of soil as water retention curve and hydraulic conductivity function (HCF). Richard et al. (2001) reported that this point corresponds to a potential equal to -20 kPa for a silt soil.

3.4. Saturated hydraulic conductivity

Water flow in aggregated soils depends mainly on pore structure and hydraulic properties of soil aggregates that are modified by soil compaction. In reduced tillage, K_{sat} has often been found to increase, despite a higher bulk density, while in other experiments a small increase in bulk density may decrease the conductivity by several orders of magnitude (Arvidsson, 1997). However, in compacted soil, increase in bulk density and decrease in the pore volumes with equivalent pore diameter $>150 \,\mu m$ or $>60 \,\mu\text{m}$ (depending on the site) resulted in significantly lower K_{sat} values (Zhang et al., 2006). Also, reduction of similar pores $(>50 \ \mu m)$ due to trampling was reflected in decreased saturated hydraulic conductivity (Zhao et al., 2010). These values are predominantly governed by the abundance of relatively large pores and their continuity (Pagliai et al., 2003; Lipiec and Hatano, 2003; Zhao et al., 2010). Therefore, change in this group of pores tends to have a strong influence on K_{sat} values. In the study by Kim et al. (2010), a regression equation with CT-measured macroporosity, the area of largest pore and porosity explained nearly 80% of variability in the saturated hydraulic conductivity of compacted and non-compacted soil. In contrast, Gebhardt et al. (2009) reported that K_{sat} values do not reflect the compaction effect (Table 1).

Other studies showed that soil compaction and increased contribution of finer pores result in lower K_{sat} of soil and lower sorptivity values of soil aggregates (Ferrero et al., 2007). The increased contribution of finer pores, combined with the increased number of contact points between soil particles, leads to greater internal aggregate strength (Horn et al., 1994; Ferrero et al., 2007) and lower wettability (Goebel et al., 2004). The hydraulic properties of soil aggregates play an important role under field conditions where large inter-aggregate pores are drained earliest and the water flow is then influenced by the properties of the aggregates themselves (Horn and Smucker, 2005).

Tractor passes can form an anisotropic soil pore system due to simultaneous movement of aggregates or particles forward and downwards and to wheel slippage (Pagliai et al., 2003; Peng and Horn, 2008). The changes can form a platy structure in the upper few centimetres with elongated pores that are oriented parallel to the soil surface. These pores are not vertically continuous and induce mainly horizontal fluxes of water and gas (Horn et al., 2003; Pagliai et al., 2003; Dörner and Horn, 2006, 2009). In a recent study by Dörner and Horn (2009) found that transport properties such as hydraulic conductivity and air permeability show a more defined anisotropy than mechanical properties. The tendency for horizontal water and air fluxes (and hence solute- and particle-bound nutrient transport) due to the development of a platy structure was The results of Gallipoli et al. (2003) showed a significant increase in the degree of saturation during shearing and attributed this change to the combination of an inflow of water to the sample and a decrease in the total void volume as the sample compressed during shearing. It was suggested that the increase in the degree of saturation was assumed to result from water-filling of additional voids because of a decrease in both the void sizes due to compression and the number of voids below a critical size corresponding to water-saturation at the applied suction. The authors argued that in such a soil with bimodal pore size distribution, the increase in the degree of saturation was accentuated by dilation of small water-filled micro-voids within relatively densely packed soil, despite the compression of the more open macrostructure. This phenomenon means that deformation does not always result in an increase in bulk density.

3.5. Unsaturated hydraulic conductivity

Experimental data relating the effects of soil compaction on unsaturated flow are limited. Some studies have shown that soil compaction results in greater unsaturated hydraulic conductivity (K) of soil for the whole range of matric potential up to -100 MPa (Assouline et al., 1997; Richard et al., 2001) and for soil aggregates (Lipiec et al., 2009). This increase was ascribed to increased connectivity between smaller pores filled with water in a compacted soil than in a loose one (De Cockborne et al., 1988; Guérif et al., 2001; Lipiec and Hatano. 2003: Lipiec et al., 2009: Richard et al., 2001). Using microtensiometers, Türk et al. (1991) found that greater water uptake rates in the denser aggregates can also be caused by larger differences in matric potential between inner and outer parts (i.e., increased hydraulic gradient). As shown by Richard et al. (2001), for water potentials less than -15 kPa, K in the compacted layer was higher than that in an uncompacted layer. The ratio between K in the two layers was 2.1 at -80 kPa. This observation can be explained by the fact that the reduction in the pore space between aggregates and the deformation of the aggregated soil increases the contact surface area between the aggregates (Gupta et al., 1989). Thus, K would be increased by compaction when water is mainly within the aggregates. On the contrary, Zhang et al. (2006) reported that K was not affected because there were no significant differences among treatments at pore sizes $<60 \mu m$ for one site (Heyang) and at pore sizes <15 µm for a second site (Mizhi). They explained that the water volume ratio corresponding to their K measurements was beyond the range where compaction had significant effects on pore sizes and spaces.

3.6. Infiltration capacity

Infiltration capacity is the maximum rate at which water soaks into or is absorbed by the soil through the soil surface (Ward and Robinson, 1990). In a hydrological context, many studies have dealt with the effect of soil compaction on soil hydrologic properties (e.g. Alakukku, 1996; Assouline et al., 1997; Betz et al., 1998); however, few investigations have been concerned with the effect of soil compaction on infiltration (van Dijck and van Asch, 2002; Håkansson, 2005; Kim et al., 2010). van Dijck and van Asch (2002) demonstrated that compacted subsoil under vineyards and orchards reduces neither steady-state infiltration rates nor total infiltration, despite the high infiltration rate of 85 and 105 mm h⁻¹ for a maximum ground contact pressure by tractors of around 70 kPa. This fact was confirmed by measurements of K_{sat} that were only 1–3 times lower in subsoil than in topsoil. Possibly, larger ratios between the K_{sat} of top- and subsoil than those observed by the authors are required for the development of a saturated zone on top of the compacted subsoil layer. Quantitative analysis of infiltration under different saturation levels may offer more appropriate information on the effects of compaction on infiltrability. From this perspective, hydrodynamic variation of water content in response to brief irrigations at different depths was proposed to investigate the effect of soil compaction on infiltration capacity (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006). Delaying infiltration and enhancement of capillary rise to the soil surface due to compaction leads to higher soil water potential (greater wetness) that can be detrimental to trafficability and to workability (Müller et al., 1990; Boone and Veen, 1994). In comparison, under a pressure of 320 kPa and an infiltration rate of 24 mm h^{-1} , soil compaction significantly reduced the infiltration rate to nearly 0 mm h⁻¹ in the topsoil of a trafficked plot (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006). Indeed, during the infiltration experiments, water infiltrated the soil on the control plot directly and instantaneously, whereas it ponded on the surface of the compacted soil. In the latter, variation of the water content was observed neither at depth during infiltration or during drainage, showing the damage of both functions-water transport and aeration. These observations are supported by the results obtained by Kulli et al. (2003) and Gysi et al. (1999) for similar soil and by Kim et al. (2010) for claypan soils due to the wet conditions created by the subsurface claypan horizon. By using dye-tracer experiments, Kulli et al. (2003) demonstrated that only very few flow paths are continuing below the topsoil directly underneath the area of the passage of the wheel. Mosaddeghi et al. (2007) reported that air permeability is a useful index of soil physical quality, especially at low matric suctions when largely dependent on connectivity of air-filled pores. The above results show the usefulness of investigating infiltration capacity over a vertical soil profile to evaluate the connectivity and tortuosity of the pore system with respect to compaction.

The infiltration process can be investigated by simulating soil moisture variation in response to a brief irrigation event using the kinematic wave approach (e.g., Germann and DiPietro, 1996; Alaoui et al., 2003). Semi-quantitative analysis of the infiltration and aeration capacities (Fig. 1) may be carried out from the evaluation of both $\Delta\theta_i$ (= $\theta_{max} - \theta_{init}$), which shows the magnitude of the increase of mobile soil moisture during infiltration, and $\Delta\theta_d$ (= $\theta_{max} - \theta_{end}$), which shows the magnitude of the decrease of mobile soil moisture during drainage. The values of $\Delta\theta_i$ and $\Delta\theta_d$ provide information on rapid increase and decrease in water content, respectively.

Preferential flow may occur for a short time period, varying from about 10 min to about 20 h, depending on soil structure and soil texture (e.g., Alaoui et al., 2003; Germann and DiPietro, 1996). The delimitation between the micropore and the macropore domain can be determined by dual-porosity modelling. Resulting WRC and the partitioning between soil moisture contributing to rapid flow (and preferential flow if it bypasses volume fractions of the porous matrix) and the soil moisture contributing to matrix flow are schematically presented in Fig. 1. Here, the water content serving as a reference can be obtained by a compression test using a standard oedometer and is a minimum value corresponding to the critical void ratio (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006). These authors found a reference value of 20% for a loamy soil.

4. Modelling water retention and water dynamic in compacted soil

4.1. Hydromechanical models

Hydromechanical models are models that link pore space geometry in a deformable porous media to its hydraulic properties



Fig. 1. (A) Water retention curve in structured soil; θ_b is the boundary water content between micropores and macropores; Ψ_b is the boundary water potential between micropores and macropores; θ_s is saturated water content. (B) Evolution of total soil water content $\theta(z,t)$ measured at depth z and time t during infiltration and drainage; t_o is the beginning of infiltration; t_{end} is the cessation of drainage; t_w is the arrival of the wetting front; t_s is the duration of infiltration; t_D is the arrival of drainage front; θ_{init} is the initial soil water content prior to infiltration; θ_{max} is the maximal soil water content measured during infiltration; θ_{end} is the final soil water content ending rapid flow corresponding to t_{end} . The reference is defined by the oedometer compression test (see text for explanation).

(i.e. water retention and hydraulic conductivity) and fluid (i.e. water) flow over various space and time scales. The pore space geometry depends on the arrangement of soil particles and aggregates. Thus, organisation of soil particles is a dominant influence on the hydraulic properties of unsaturated soils (Nimmo, 1997). Eggers et al. (2007) showed that pores within a cubic pack of aggregates deform isotropically even under anisotropic stress conditions.

Or (1996) proposed a model of liquid phase sintering of glass compacts to describe rapid wetting-induced densification of aggregates, assuming that (i) reduction in soil strength upon wetting is similar to the effect of high temperature on glass powders (Scherer, 1977, 1984), and (ii) capillary forces induce viscous flow. This model reproduced the soil structural changes of aggregated silt loam during wetting-drying cycles quite well by using the viscosity of soil as a fitting parameter. It overcomes many of the drawbacks related to other established geotechnical approaches (Sigala, 1968; Keller, 1970; Ghavami et al., 1974) which do not address either the question of how to adjust empirically for contact area between aggregates or the changes in pore size distribution which greatly affect soil hydraulic properties. Ghezzehei and Or (2000) extended Or's aggregate coalescence model (Or, 1996) by accommodating arbitrary wetting-drying conditions and by deriving constitutive viscous flow relationships from first principle. This was achieved by integrating energy source considerations as well as geometrical configurations. The nonlinearity of wet soil viscous flow behaviour was also accounted for by introducing a Bingham rheological model. Similarly, Sisavath et al. (2000) presented analytical approximations based on the hydraulic radius concept (Dullien, 1979) and other approximations attributed to de Saint-Venant (1879) and Aissen (1951) to estimate pore hydraulic conductance from pore geometrical properties.

Starting from the idea that the contacts between aggregates are highly conductive close to saturation and become bottle-necks as water potential decreases, Carminati et al. (2008) showed that the hydraulic conductivity of a pair of aggregates, $K_{\text{pair}(h)}$, with matric head *h* of the aggregate soil matrix, depends greatly on the contacts between the aggregates. Combining this concept with an analytical model of contact mechanics, Berli et al. (2008) predicted the hydraulic conductivity of a deforming pack of aggregates.

In order to extend the above analyses to more complex pore systems, there is a need to link these processes with easily observable and well-established sample scale deformations and flow behaviours. Eggers et al. (2007) proposed an analytical and finite element model to describe fluid permeability through a stack of deforming spherical aggregates. Tuller and Or (2001) determined the cross-sectional conductivity of liquid films by solving the Navier-Stokes equation in the two-dimensional cross-section of different liquid configurations, assuming a linear relationship between flux density and hydraulic gradient. Carminati et al. (2008) introduced the roughness of the contact aggregates in the calculation of hydraulic conductivity assuming a mean feature of aggregate and contact cross-sections. It was shown that the roughness of the contact aggregates is not only crucial for the stability of unsaturated granular media (Hasley and Levine, 1998) but also for hydraulic behaviour of soil resulting in rapid drainage of the contact region (Carminati et al., 2008). The model proposed by Carminati et al. (2008) is limited to unconsolidated aggregated media such as freshly tilled soils.

Or et al. (2006) developed a simple analytical model for a soil unit cell that links deformation with hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soil on the basis of the findings by Eggers et al. (2006, 2007). Berli et al. (2008) proposed a hydromechanical model for change in aggregate contacts and their impact on inter-aggregate and intra-aggregate fluid flow on the basis of the investigations by Carminati (2007). Results showed good agreement between measured and calculated *K* for hydraulic head h <-1 m, whereas this model fails in describing *K* close to saturation (>-1 m). This discrepancy can be attributed to the simplification of assumptions about the macropore necks that are reduced to a single diameter and the neglected impact of the capillary bridges which greatly contribute to the flow across the inter-aggregate contact near saturation (e.g., Carminati et al., 2008).

Despite the noticeable progress of these models in depicting hydraulic conductivity measurements relatively well, some questions are still open; for example, how to conceptualize (i) the transition from the scale of individual aggregates to up-scaled pore continuum of dual-porosity models, and (ii) the changes in the flux between the domains (in both directions), depending on soil texture and loading.

There is now scope to account for both hydromechanical and thermal conditions in deformable soils. Recently, Salager et al. (2010) proposed a predictive relation expressing the change in soil suction with water content, temperature and density as described by void ratio. This relationship predicts the water retention curve at a specific temperature from the knowledge of the water retention curve at reference temperature. Hence, the number of experimental tests required to characterize the thermo-hydraulic behaviour of a given soil is greatly reduced.

4.2. Water retention curve

The WRC describes the relationship between two fundamental state variables of soil water: the matrix pressure head, including capillary head (ψ), and the water content (θ). This relationship describes flow processes over a large range of capillary potential. Approaches to model the effect of the increase in the soil bulk density on the WRC are very limited (Assouline, 2006a). Rajkai et al. (1996) used a pedotransfer function to predict the WRC. They obtained improved results by incorporating fitted cumulative particle-size data and bulk density. Inserting a penetration resistance into the pedotransfer functions improved the estimates of the WRC, based on soil texture and bulk density. Additional more conceptual approaches for estimating the effects of the changes in bulk density on the WRC involve the formation of dense seal layers at the surface of a bare soil exposed to high-energy rainfall (Baumhardt et al., 1990; Mualem and Assouline, 1989). The approach of Baumhardt et al. (1990) is based on three main steps: (i) experimentally estimate the K_{sat} of the seal layer; (ii) compute the seal saturated water content on the basis of the K_{sat} estimate using the Kozeny-Carman relationship, and the water entry value using the Poiseuille equation, and iii) determine the Brooks and Corey (1964) exponent λ for the seal layer, assuming a proportional increase in the initial water content of the seal with bulk density. Although these approaches capture the changes in the WRC caused by compaction, they do neither account for the effects of soil structure on the pedotransfer function estimates, nor for changes in soil pore distribution caused by compaction (Assouline, 2006a). The last author used two expressions of the WRC, relating their parameters to the bulk density of a compacted soil. Data were calibrated and validated against experimental WRC data of soils at various levels of compaction. These relationships gave a relatively good prediction of the effect of bulk density on the WRC.

Cornelis et al. (2001) reported that the pedotransfer functions predict moisture content well near saturation and permanent wilting point. The former is mainly dependent on total porosity and the latter on bulk density and clay content. The highest prediction errors were at moisture conditions close to field capacity, due to the mostly different morphology of pore volume. It was shown that use of neutral networks (NNs) to estimate soil water retention performed slightly better than the regressionbased PTFs (Pachepsky et al., 1996; Koekkoec and Booltink, 1999). The performance of both NNs and regressions was comparable when van Genuchten's (van Genuchten, 1980) equation was fitted to data for each sample, and the parameters of this equation were obtained from texture and bulk density. Results showed that the changes in volumetric water contents at given potentials affect the hydraulic conductivity.

4.3. Hydraulic conductivity function

The experimental evidence suggests that K_{sat} is mostly determined by large pores, which are greatly reduced when the soil bulk density increases (Carter, 1990; Lipiec et al., 1998; Håkansson and Lipiec, 2000; Assouline, 2006b). Consequently, drastic reductions in K_{sat} with increasing bulk density have been reported (e.g., Håkansson and Medvedev, 1995). Therefore, soil compaction effects can also be simulated directly by considering bulk density or porosity (Walczak et al., 1997), or indirectly by changing inputs for K_{sat} , K, soil water retention, penetrometer resistance, root depth and root distribution (Rajkai et al., 1997; Warner et al., 1997; Eckersten et al., 1998). When based on the bulk density or porosity, the methods above provide useful information on the state of compactness and do not relate soil structure to water movement. Lipiec et al. (2003) reported that bulk density was not a sensitive indicator for the estimation of K_{sat} as it contains no information regarding pore geometry and continuity.

Compaction has a great influence on macropore flow, but there have been few attempts to model these effects. In this respect, Dexter and Richard (2009) developed a model for water retention in bi-modal soils (soils having structural and matrix porosity only) into a model for tri-modal soils, including the effect of the macropores. This model is based on the exponential (Bolzmann) water retention function. When combined with Marshall's pore model for hydraulic conductivity, it can predict the K_{sat} on n-modal soils. They reported that the number of structural pores - and not their size - decreases as soil becomes denser. This shows that the multi-modal nature of soil pore size distributions has a big influence on water retention and on K_{sat} . The correlation between coarse pores (>10 μ m) and K_{sat} reported by Gebhardt et al. (2009) illustrated their crucial importance for water movement under saturated conditions. In fact, the Hagen-Poiseuille law expresses the dependence of water flux through a simple pore in terms of the fourth power of the pore radius. Using the dual-porosity MACRO model (Jarvis, 1994), Alaoui and Helbling (2006) showed the dominance of macropore flow for their compacted loamy soil, especially in the topsoil. The volume of macropores, representing only 0.23-2.00% of the total soil volume, transported approximately 74-100% of total water flow. The results show the very weak lateral exchange between macropores and micropores in the topsoil due to the compacted soil matrix, as shown by the dye tracer images.

Dexter (2004b) used S (slope of the soil water retention curve at its inflection point) as a measure of the micro-structural porosity of the soil, which can be also used as a "matching point" in the studies of K (Eq. (1)). Their results are promising because at the inflection point, the largest water-filled pores are also at the peak of pore size distribution and therefore dominate hydraulic conductivity. Their approach also introduces the possibility of examining the likely trends of K(i) (K of soil at the inflection point) in terms of soil composition and bulk density using pedo-transfer functions. They combined Eq. (1) with the pedo-transfer functions for the parameters of van Genuchten (1980) and the water retention equation of Wösten et al. (1999). It was shown that increases in K(i)with increasing bulk density were predicted for different soil textures (sand, loamy sand and sandy loam) at low values of bulk density. This is to be expected because compaction (i.e. increasing bulk density) reduces the number of conducting pores. Dexter (2004b) suggested the relationship:

$$\log K(i) = -A + B \log \left[\frac{S}{h_i}\right]^2,\tag{1}$$

where h_i is the suction at the inflection point and A and B are coefficients, depending on soil type. The author showed that to improve the precision of the estimation of K(i), the suction values allowing its calculation must be in the range of 0–5 hPa, since macro-structural features empty in this range, and that predictions of K using saturation as a matching point can be highly inaccurate (see for instance Jarvis, 2008). Consequently, bulk density is not a good indicator of soil structure because it is not directly correlated with K_{sat} , which depends greatly on soil macro-structural features such as cracks and biopores and especially on their connectivity (Dexter, 2004b).

4.4. Dual-porosity models

Flow and transport in structured porous media are frequently described using double- (or dual) porosity models that take into account two flow domains; the basic model concepts are reviewed elsewhere (Gerke, 2006).

Typically, dissipation of momentum dominates flow in wellstructured soils at high moisture contents and at high infiltration rates, whereas diffusion of capillary potential dominates flow in homogeneous soils over a broader range of moisture contents and at low infiltration rates. Therefore, approaches to flow in structured soils can be divided in two major groups:

- i) Approaches based on Richards' (Richards, 1931) equation for water flow in the matrix domain (i.e., diffusion of potential energy) in combination with other approximations for macropore flow. The two domains are considered independently of one another with some account for interactions, and dualpermeability models assume flow in both pore domains (e.g., Gerke and van Genuchten, 1993). In this regard, Jarvis (Larsbo and Jarvis, 2005) developed a physically based model, MACRO that simulates water and solute transport in macroporous soil. Water flow in micropores is calculated with Richards' (Richards, 1931) equation, while macropore flow is simulated using the kinematic wave theory (Beven and Germann, 1982; Alaoui et al., 2003).
- ii) Approaches using the kinematic wave theory (Lighthill and Whitham, 1955) based on the dissipation of momentum (Germann and DiPietro, 1996). A power function relates the water flux to the mobile volumetric water content.

Matthews et al. (2010) using the Pore-Cor void network model including Euler beta distribution to describe the sizes of the narrow interconnections, known as throats, revealed a change from bimodal to unimodal throat size distributions on compaction, as well as a reduction in sizes overall.

4.5. Shrinkage characteristic curve

Swelling and shrinking clay soils change in volume with soilwater content changes. The macroporosity, and to a lesser extent the microporosity, of swelling and shrinking soils is affected by their shrinkage behaviour. The magnitude of the change in bulk volume is usually described by the soil shrinkage characteristic curve, which represents the specific volume change of soil relative to its water content (Haines, 1923; Stirk, 1954; Braudeau, 1988).

The methods of shrinkage measurements helped to develop shrinkage curve models with different parameter sets (Braudeau et al., 1999). Braudeau (1988) proposed a conceptual model of soil shrinkage on the basis of the model of Sposito and Giráldez (1976), where clay aggregates in the soil are assumed to shrink as clay paste, and where the slope of the normal shrinkage is related to aggregate fabric and aggregate stability. The model proposed by Braudeau (1987) contains five main zones: linear and curvilinear residual shrinkage, basic shrinkage, and linear and curvilinear structural shrinkage. The endpoints of these zones representing the points of transition are considered as characteristics of the shrinkage process. The linear zones are modelled by straight line equations, and the curvilinear zones by exponential (XP) (Braudeau, 1988) or polynomial (PL) (Giráldez et al., 1983; Tarig and Durnford, 1993) parametric equations. The parameters represent the coordinates of the endpoints of the zones.

Recently, Cornelis et al. (2006) proposed to test the performance of different models frequently used to assess the shrinkage characteristic curve. For describing the shrinkage characteristic curve, it was shown that the multi-equation models proposed by McGarry and Malafant (1987) and Braudeau et al. (1999) and the modified model of Chertkov (2000, 2003), as well as the Groenevelt and Grant (2001, 2002) simple equation, fit the measurements well but differed in complexity and the number of parameters.

In addition to describing the shrinkage processes, the shrinkage characteristic curve may describe the state of compaction. A slope of $0-0.2 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ g}^{-1}$ means that soil has a nearly constant volume when it dries and is therefore rigid or compacted (Braudeau and Bruand, 1993; Boivin et al., 2006). When the slope is greater than $1 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ g}^{-1}$, soil is very unstable (Boivin, 1990). A more recent study by Schäffer et al. (2008)

showed that trafficking and associated destabilization of soil structure increased the slopes of the shrinkage curve in the basic and structural shrinkage domains by about 30% and more than 150% after 10 passes, respectively. Gregory et al. (2010), using Xray computed tomography scanning, found that compression from 50 to 200 kPa mainly affected the >30-µm pores, changing a dual porous system of inter- and intra-aggregate pores to one mainly dominated by intra-aggregate pores. Shear-deformed soils retained more water than the compressed soil and shrank more, so that they remained tension-saturated at low (negative) matric potentials. The authors developed a function to predict the soil saturation state as a function of matric potential and porosity.

It was also demonstrated that combining the shrinkage and desorption experiments to calculate the equivalent pore radii of drainage plasma-macropores provides useful information about the changes in pore diameters upon compaction (Boivin et al.,

2006). Therefore, there is a need for further investigations to assess soil compaction and its variability in situ.

Several processes, such as wetting/drying, freezing/thawing, and tillage help to alleviate the effects of soil compaction (Håkansson, 2005). In fine-textured soils, freezing and drying cause crack formation and disintegration of large clods into smaller aggregates. Roots and microbial exudates help to stabilize crack and aggregate surfaces. Research showed that the effects of the freeze and thaw and drving and wetting cycles are more frequent and intense near the soil surface (e.g. Arvidsson and Håkansson, 1994; Halvorson et al., 2003) and therefore the persistence of compaction effects increases rapidly with depth and in regions without freezing. In a study by Taboada and Lavado (1993), the damaged soil macropores (mainly $>60 \,\mu\text{m}$) regenerated and aggregate stability recovered during the subsequent period of surface water ponding, when soil swelling increased macropores in the grazed area but not in the ungrazed area.



Fig. 2. Simplified outline of the effect of soil compaction on the soil structure from a hydrodynamic point of view; (A) and (B) water retention curves; (C) and (D) hydrodynamic variation of soil moisture; (1) reduction of structural porosity, (2) appearance of relict structural porosity, and (3) boundary between matrix and macropores; MA: macroporosity.

Structured soil with destructed macropores

Effect of soil deformation on hydrodynamic behaviour of different internal porosities

The action of the natural processes is related to tillage practices. Capowiez et al. (2009) reported that up to 30% of the compacted zones observed at the scale of soil profiles were colonized under reduced (RT) and only 10% under conventional tillage. A recent study by Weisskopf et al. (2010) indicates that omitting soil tillage after compaction results in the development of a dense, blocky structure, with the blocks separated by shrinking cracks and penetrated by earthworm holes. The authors observed that with the evolution of a network of shrinking cracks, especially stimulated under ley, air permeability values increased considerably, while macropore development still lagged behind, leading to a totally different ratio macropore volume: air permeability in the tilled vs. untilled soils. In coarse-textured soils without swelling and shrinking, processes are generally more persistent than in finetextured soils.

5. A conceptual model

Results from the literature allow us to propose a general conceptual model where the implications of soil deformation on hydrodynamic behaviour can be synthesized. The basis of this conceptualization resulted from modelling water or solute transport in unsaturated soil. This implies at least assessing WRC measurements and hydraulic and physical parameters.

A heterogeneous structure in undisturbed (structured) soil generally creates suitable conditions for ecosystem services. Changes in the WRC and HCF affect the water transport processes. According to the dual-porosity modelling of flow and on the basis of WRC and the partitioning between the micropore and macropore domains, three main hypothetical schematic diagrams can be distinguished (Figs. 2 and 3):

- i) Damage to macropores, illustrated by the decrease in the water potential >-20 kPa and domination of matrix flow as shown in Fig. 2A and C. This type of behaviour results from dynamic loading as observed by Pagliai et al. (2003), Servadio et al. (2001) and Zhang et al. (2006) among others. The matrix remains active and provides slow water transport. Soil hydraulic properties, such as saturated hydraulic conductivity and pore shape by image analysis techniques (e.g., Richard et al., 2001) and dye tracer and infiltration experiments (Kulli et al., 2003; Alaoui and Helbling, 2006), may provide a good illustration of the destruction of structural porosity.
- ii) The effect of soil deformation shown in Fig. 2B and D reflects a more complex process, showing coupled hydraulic and mechanical aspects. A decrease in structural porosity results in an increase in relict structural. Such an effect is induced by dynamic loading of wheeled and tracked heavy machines. The volume of the relict structural pores is indicative of soil compaction and its effect on behavioural properties (e.g., Richard et al., 2001). From a hydrodynamic point of view, this effect leads to a change in the WRC and corresponding hydrodynamic variation in θ . Depending on the degree of compaction, a transition from macropore flow to intermediate or matrix flow occurs. Backscattered electron scanning images and mercury porosimetry highlighted this change, whereas bulk density and total porosity did not (Richard et al., 2001).
- iii) The destruction of the matrix in the form of dense soil layer in the topsoil caused by trampling in the pastures (Fig. 3) (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006). In this case, vertically oriented macropores are resistant to vertical compression (e.g., Kirby and Blackwell, 1989; Langmaack et al., 1999; Lee and Foster, 1991) and transport all water downwards, providing rapid flow characterized by a drastic draining of macropores during drainage. Hydraulic properties such as saturated water conductivity

(A) Water retention curves



Fig. 3. Simplified outline of the effect of soil compaction on the soil structure (i.e., soil pasture); reduction in the matrix porosity; (A) water retention curve; (B) hydrodynamic variation of soil moisture.

(Zhang et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2010), pore volume distribution analyses (Alaoui and Goetz, 2008), dye tracer experiments (Kulli et al., 2003) and water flow dynamics during irrigation experiments describe such effects of pore structure deterioration (Alaoui and Helbling, 2006).

The concept outlined above may be verified by the following measurements:

(i) Direct measurements of water flow or (ii) modelling it on the basis of the key hydraulic and physical soil parameters (i.e., Ψ , K_{unsat} and $\theta(t)$). Fitting these variables with a dual-porosity model

will help to divide total water content into two categories, mobile (contributing to preferential flow) and immobile (contributing to matrix flow). Modelled water flow in such a dual-porosity medium provides the level of compaction in each domain.

6. Conclusions

The aim of this paper is to review recent advances in the understanding and evaluation of functional changes in compacted soil with respect to water retention and water flow.

Among other processes, compaction, shearing and the rearrangement of soil aggregates and clods due to shrinkage can greatly affect the pore geometry of agricultural soils. These soil structural changes greatly affect soil water movement by altering the hydraulic properties that are commonly described by the soil water retention curve (WRC) and the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity function (HCF). These functions are particularly useful because they describe the effects of compaction on the functionality of soil structure, rather than only the state of compaction.

The sophistication of the methods developed recently (i.e. X-ray computed tomography) provides accurate information on the pore system. These methods make it possible to conceptualize aggregate contact size evolution and consequently quantify the effects of compression on hydraulic conductivity functions at the aggregate pore scale. However, it remains unclear how to up-scale the dynamic inter-aggregate pore models into the continuumscale dual-porosity model: indeed, what are effective parameters to this end? In particular, what are effective hydraulic properties for the preferential flow domain and changes in the fractions and geometries during the dynamic structural changes due to external perturbations? The review strongly suggests extending the existing hydraulic and hydromechanical model to include the pore structural changes that account for the movement and rearrangement of soil aggregates and the resulting changes in the soil hydraulic properties that basically manifest the effects of shearing and compaction on water flow.

Based on modelling water flow, we also present a conceptual framework that summarizes the effects of external perturbations on soil. This framework may enable us to conceptualize compaction effects in a cost-effective manner, since it only requires WRC measurements. There remains the challenge, however, of how to link these data to the pore geometry and then to its evolution upon compaction.

Acknowledgment

This study was supported by the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), grant no. 04.1214.PJ/H343-0419.

References

- Abou Najm, M.R., Jabro, J.D., Iversen, W.M., Mohtar, R.H., Evans, R.G., 2010. New method for the characterization of three-dimensional preferential flow paths in the field. Water Resour. Res. 46, W02503, doi:10.1029/2009WR008594.
- Aissen, M.I., 1951. Estimation and computation of torsional rigidity. Ph.D. Thesis. Stanford Univ., Stanford, California.
- Alakukku, L., 1996. Persistence of soil compaction due to high axle load traffic: I. Short-term effects on the properties of clay and organic soils. Soil Till. Res. 37, 211–222.
- Alaoui, A., Goetz, B., 2008. Dye tracer and infiltration experiments to investigate macropore flow. Geoderma 144, 279–286.
- Alaoui, A., Helbling, A., 2006. Evaluation of soil compaction using hydrodynamic water content variation: comparison between compacted and non-compacted soil. Geoderma 134, 97–108.
- Alaoui, A., Germann, P., Jarvis, N., Acutis, M., 2003. Dual-porosity and kinematic wave approaches to assess the degree of preferential flow in an unsaturated soil. Hydrol. Sci. J. 48 (3), 455–472.
- Amezketa, E., 1999. Soil aggregate stability: a review. J. Sustain. Agric. 14 (2), 83– 151, doi:10.1300/J064v14n02_08.

- Arocena, J.M., 2000. Cations in solution from forest soils subjected to forest floor removal and compaction treatments. For. Ecol. Manage. 133, 71–80.
- Arvidsson, J., 1997. Soil compaction in agriculture–from soil stress to plant stress. Ph.D. Thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, 146 pp.
- Arvidsson, J., Håkansson, I., 1994. Do effects of soil compaction persist after ploughing? Results from 21 long-term field experiments in Swede. Soil Till. Res. 39, 175–197.
- Assouline, S., 2006a. Modeling the relationship between soil bulk density and the water retention curve. Vadose Zone J. 5, 554–563.
- Assouline, S., 2006b. Modeling the relationship between soil bulk density and the hydraulic conductivity function. Vadose Zone J. 5, 697–705.
- Assouline, S., Tavares-Filho, J., Tessier, D., 1997. Effect of compaction on soil physical and hydraulic properties: experimental results and modelling. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 61, 390–398.
- Bakker, D.M., Davis, R.J., 1995. Soil deformation observations in a Vertisol under field traffic. Aust. J. Soil Res. 33, 817–832.
- Balbuena, R.H., Terminiello, A.M., Claverie, J.A., Casado, J.P., Marlats, R., 2000. Soil compaction by forestry harvester operation. Evolution of physical properties. Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agricola e Ambiental 4, 453–459 (in Spanish).
- Ball, B.C., 1981. Pore characteristics of soils from two cultivation experiments as shown by gas diffusivities and permeabilities and air-filled porosities. J. Soil Sci. 32, 465–481.
- Baumhardt, R.L., Römkens, M.J.M., Whisler, F.D., Parlange, J.Y., 1990. Modeling infiltration into a sealing soil. Water Resour. Res. 26, 2497–2505.
- Berli, M., Kulli, B., Attinger, W., Keller, M., Leuenberger, J., Flühler, H., Springman, S.M., Schulin, R., 2004. Compaction of agricultural and forest subsoils by tracked heavy construction machinery. Soil Till. Res. 75, 37–52.
- Berli, M., Carminati, A., Ghezzehei, T.A., Or, D., 2008. Evolution of unsaturated hydraulic conductivity of aggregated soils due to compressive forces. Water Resour. Res. 44, W00C09, doi:10.1029/2007WR006501.
- Besson, A., Javaux, M., Bielders, C.L., Vanclooster, M., 2011. Impact of tillage on solute transport in a loamy soil from leaching experiments. Soil Till. Res. 112, 47–57.
- Betz, C.L., Allmaras, R.R., Copeland, S.M., Randall, G.W., 1998. Least limiting water range: traffic and long-term tillage influences in a webster soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 62, 1384–1393.
- Beven, K., Germann, P., 1981. Water flow in soil macropores II. A combined flow model. J. Soil Sci. 32, 15–29.
- Beven, K., Germann, P., 1982. Macropores and water flow in soils. Water Resour. Res 18, 1311–1325, doi:10.1029/WR018i005p01311.
- Blanco-Canqui, H., Claassen, M.M., Stone, L.R., 2010. Controlled traffic impacts on physical and hydraulic properties in an intensively cropped no-till soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 74, 2142–2150.
- Boivin, P., 1990. Caractérisation physique des sols sulfatés acides de la vallée de Katoure (basse Casamance, Sénégal): variabilité spatiale et relation avec les caractéristiques pédologiques (in French). Thèse Université Paris VI, Ed. ORS-TOM Paris, Série Etudes et Thèses, pp. 226.
- Boivin, P., Schäffer, B., Temgoua, E., Gratier, M., Steinman, G., 2006. Assessment of soil compaction using soil shrinkage modelling: experimental data and perspectives. Soil Till. Res. 88 (1–2), 65–79.
- Boll, J., Steenhuis, T.S., Selker, J.S., 1992. Fiberglass wicks for sampling of water and solutes in the vadose zone. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 56 (3), 701–707.
- Boone, F.R., 1988. Weather and other environmental factors influencing crop responses to tillage and traffic. Soil Till. Res. 11, 283–324.
- Boone, F.R., Veen, B.W., 1994. Mechanisms of crop responses to soil compaction. In: Soane, B.D., van Ouwerkerk, C. (Eds.), Soil Compaction in Crop Production. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 237–264.
- Borggaard, O.K., Gimsing, A.L., 2008. Fate of glyphosate in soil and the possibility of leaching to ground and surface waters: a review. Pest Manag. Sci. 64 (4), 441– 456.
- Bouma, J., Jongerius, A., Boersma, O., Jager, A., Schoonderbeek, D., 1977. The function of different types of macropore during saturated flow through four swelling horizons. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 41, 945–950.
- Braudeau, E., 1987. Mesure automatique de la retraction d'échantillons de sol non remaniés (in French). Sci. Sol. 25, 85–93.
- Braudeau, E., 1988. Equation généralisée des courbes de retrait d'échantillons de sols structurés (in French). C.R. Acad. Ser. II 307, 1731–1734.
- Braudeau, E., Bruand, A., 1993. Determination of the clay shrinkage curve using the shrinkage curve of the undisturbed soil sample–application to a soil sequence in ivory-coast. C.R. Acad. Sci. Ser. II 316, 685–692.
- Braudeau, E., Costantini, J.M., Bellier, G., Colleuille, H., 1999. New device and method for soil shrinkage curve measurement and characterization. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63, 525–535.
- Braudeau, E., Frangi, J.P., Mohtar, R.H., 2004. Characterizing nonrigid aggregated
- soil-water medium using its shrinkage curve. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68, 359–370. Braudeau, E., Sene, M., Mohtar, R.H., 2005. Hydrostructural characteristics of two African tropical soils. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 56, 375–388.
- Brewer, R., 1964. Fabric and Mineral Analysis of Soils. J. Wiley and Sons, New York. Brooks, R.H., Corey, A.T., 1964. Hydraulic properties of porous media. Hydrology
- Paper 3. Colorado State University, Fort Collins. Bronick, C., Lal, R., 2005. Soil structure and management: a review. Geoderma 124, 3–22, doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.03.005.
- Brown, H.J., Cruse, R.M., Erbach, D.C., Melvin, S.W., 1992. Tractive device effects on soil physical properties. Soil Till. Res. 22, 41–53.
- Bruand, A., Cousin, I., 1995. Variation of textural porosity of a loamy-clay soil during compaction. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 46, 377–385.

- Bruand, A., Cousin, I., Le, Lay, 1997. Formation of relict macropores in a clayloamy soil by wheel compaction. In: Shoba, S., Gerasimova, M., Miedema, R. (Eds.), Soil Micromorphlogy: Studies on Soil (Diversity Dianostics and Dynamics), Printing Service Centre Van Gils B.V., Wageningen, pp. 247– 254.
- Canarache, A., 1991. Factors and indices regarding excessive compactness of agricultural soils. Soil Till. Res. 19 (1), 145-164.
- Capowiez, Y., Cadoux, S., Bouchand, P., Roger-Estrade, J., Richard, G., Boizard, H., 2009. Experimental evidence for the role of earthworms in compacted soil regeneration based on field observations and results from a semi-field experiment. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 711–717.
- Carminati, A., 2007. Unsaturated water flow through soil aggregates. Ph.D. thesis, Swiss Fed. Inst. of Technol., Zürich, Switzerland, 114 p.
- Carminati, A., Kaestner, A., Lehmann, P., Flühler, H., 2008. Unsaturated water flow across soil aggregate contacts. Adv. Water Resour. 31, 1221–1232.
- Carter, M.R., 1990. Relative measures of soil bulk density to characterize compaction in tillage studies on fine sandy loams. Can. J. Soil Sci. 70, 425–433.
- Chen, C., Thomas, D., Green, R., Wagenet, R., 1993. Two-domain estimation of hydraulic properties in macropore soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57, 680–686.
- Chertkov, V.Y., 2000. Modeling the pore structure and shrinkage curve of soil clay matrix. Geoderma 95 (3-4), 215-246.
- Chertkov, V.Y., 2003. Modelling the shrinkage curve of soil clay pastes. Geoderma 112. 71–95.
- Coquet, Y., Coutadeur, C., Labata, C., Vachier, P., van Genuchten, M.Th, Roger-Estrade, J., Simunek, J., 2005. Water and solute transport in a cultivated silt loam soil. 1. Field observations. Vadose Zone J. 4, 573–586.
- Corey, A.T., 1994. Mechanics of Immiscible Fluids in Porous Media. Water Resour. Pub. Highlands Ranch, CO, USA.
- Cornelis, W.M., Ronsyn, J., van Meirvenne, M., Hartmann, R., 2001. Evaluation of pedotransfer functions for predicting the soil moisture retention curve. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65, 638–648.
- Cornelis, W.M., Corluy, J., Medina, H., Díaz, J., Hartmann, R., Van Meirvenne, M., Ruiz, M.E., 2006. Measuring and modelling the soil shrinkage characteristic curve. Geoderma 137 (1–2), 179–191.
- Cui, K., Défossez, P., Cui, Y.J., Richard, G., 2010. Soil compaction by wheeling: changes in soil suction caused by compression. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 61, 599–608, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2010.01245.x.
- da Silva, A.P., Kay, B.D., Perfect, E., 1994. Characterization of the least limiting water range of soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 58, 1775–1781.
- da Silva, A.P., Kay, B.D., Perfect, E., 1997. Management versus inherent soil properties effects on bulk density and relative compaction. Soil Till. Res. 44, 81–93.
- De Cockborne, A.M., Jauzein, M., Stengel, P., Guennelon, R., 1988. Variation du coefficient de diffusion de NO3- dans les sols: influence de la teneur en eau et de la porosité. Agronomie 8, 905-914 (in French).
- de Saint-Venant, B., 1879. Sur une formule donnant approximativement le moment de torsion. C.R. Hebd. Seances Acad. Sci. 88, 142–147 (in French).
- Dexter, A.R., 1988. Advances in characterization of soil structure. Soil Till. Res. 11, 199–238.
- Dexter, A.R., 2004a. Soil physical quality: Part II: Friability, tillage, tilth and hardsetting, Geoderma 120, 215–225.
- Dexter, A.R., 2004b. Soil physical quality: Part III: Unsaturated hydraulic conductivity and general conclusions about S-theory. Geoderma 120, 227–239.
- Dexter, A.R., Richard, G., 2009. The saturated hydraulic conductivity of soils with nmodal pore size distributions. Geoderma 154, 76–85.
- Dexter, A.R., Czyz, E.A., Richard, G., Reszkowska, A., 2008. A user-friendly water retention function that takes account of the textural and structural pores spaces in soil. Geoderma 143, 243–253.
- Domżał, H., 1983. Compaction of the solid phase and its role in the water-air properties of soil. Zesz. Probl. Post. Nauk Roln. 220, 138–154.
- Domżał, H., Glinski, J., Lipiec, J., 1991. Soil compaction research in Poland. In: van Ouwerkerk, C. (Ed.), Soil Compaction and Plant Productivity. Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, pp. 99–109.
- Dörner, J., Horn, R., 2006. Anisotropy of pore functions in structured Stagnic Luvisols in the Weichselian moraine region in N. Germany. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 169, 213–220.
- Dörner, J., Horn, R., 2009. Direction-dependent behaviour of hydraulic and mechanical properties in structured soils under conventional and conservation tillage. Soil Till. Res. 102, 225–232.
- Dullien, F.A.L., 1979. Porous Media Fluid Transport and Pore Structure. Academic, New York, 396 pp.
- Dumbeck, G., 1984. Einfluss aussergewöhnlicher Druckbelastung auf das Bodengefüge und die Durchwurzelung. Mitteilungen der Deutschen Bodenkundlichen Gesellschaft 40, 61–62.
- Eckersten, H., Jansson, P.E., Johnsson, H., 1998. SOILN Model, Ver. 9, User's Manual. Division of Hydrotechnics Communications 98. 6. Department of Soil Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, pp. 113.
- Eggers, C.G., Berli, M., Accorsi, M.L., Or, D., 2006. Deformation and permeability of aggregated soft earth materials. J. Geophys. Res. 111, B10204, doi:10.1029/ 2005[B004123.
- Eggers, C.G., Berli, M., Accorsi, M.L., Or, D., 2007. Permeability of deformable soft aggregated earth materials: from single pore to sample cross section. Water Resour. Res. 43, W08424, doi:10.1029/2005WR004649.
- Elliott, E., 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in native and cultivated soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 50, 627–633.
- Ferrero, A., Lipiec, J., 2000. Determining the effect of trampling on soils in hillslope-woodlands. Int. Agrophys. 14, 9–16.

- Ferrero, A., Lipiec, J., Turski, M., Nosalewicz, A., 2007. Stability and sorptivity of soil aggregates in grassed and cultivated sloping vineyards. Polish J. Soil Sci. XL (1), 1–8.
- Gallipoli, D., Wheeler, S.J., Karstunen, M., 2003. Modelling the variation of degree of saturation in a deformable unsaturated soil. Géotechnique 53, 105–112.
- Gebhardt, S., Fleige, H., Horn, R., 2009. Effect of compaction on pore functions of soils in a Saalean moraine landscape in North Germany. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 172, 688–695.
- Gerke, H.H., 2006. Preferential flow descriptions for structured soils. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 169 (3), 382–400.
- Gerke, H.H., van Genuchten, M.Th., 1993. A dual-porosity model for simulating the preferential movement of water and solutes in structured porous media. Water Resour. Res. 29, 305–319.
- Germann, F.P., DiPietro, L., 1996. When is porous-media flow preferential? A hydromechanical perspective. Geoderma 74 (1–2), 1–21.
- Ghavami, M., Keller, J., Dunn, I.S., 1974. Predicting soil density following irrigation. Trans. ASAE 17, 166–171.
- Ghezzehei, T.A., Or, D., 2000. Dynamics of soil aggregate coalescence governed by capillary and rheological processes. Water Resour. Res. 36 (2), 367–379.
- Giráldez, J.V., Sposito, G., Delgado, C., 1983. A general soil volume change equation: I. The 2-parameter model. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 47, 419–422.
- Goebel, M.-O., Bachmann, J., Woche, S.K., Fischer, W.R., Horton, R., 2004. Water potential and aggregate size effects on contact angle and surface energy. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68, 383–393.
- Gregory, A.S., Bird, N.R.A., Whalley, W.R., Matthews, G.P., Young, I.M., 2010. Deformation and shrinkage effects on the soil water release characteristic. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 74, 1104–1112.
- Groenevelt, P.H., Grant, C.D., 2001. Re-evaluation of the structural properties of some British swelling soils. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 52, 469–477.
- Groenevelt, P.H., Grant, C.D., 2002. Curvature of shrinkage lines in relation to the consistency and structure of a Norwegian clay soil. Geoderma 106, 235–245.
- Guérif, J., Richard, G., Dürr, C., Machet, J.M., Recous, S., Roger-Estrade, J., 2001. A review of tillage effects on crop residue management, seedbed conditions and seedling establishment. Soil Till. Res. 61, 13–32.
- Gupta, S.C., Hadas, A., Schafer, R.I., 1989. Modelling soil mechanical behaviour during compaction. In: Larson, W.E., Blake, G.R., Allmaras, R.R., Voorhees, W.B., Gupta, S.C. (Eds.), Mechanics and Related Processes in Structured Agricultural Soils. NATON ASI Series E, Appl. Sci., 172. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 137–152.
- Gysi, M., Ott, A., Flühler, H., 1999. Influence of single passes with high wheel load on a structured, unploughed sandy loam soil. Soil Till. Res. 52, 141–151.
- Hadas, A., 1987. Long-term tillage practice effects on soil aggregation modes and strength. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51, 191–197.
- Haines, W.B., 1923. The volume changes associated with variations of water content in soil. J. Agric. Sci. Camb. 13, 296–310.
- Håkansson, I., 1990. A method for characterizing the state of compactness of the plough layer. Soil Till. Res. 16, 105–120.
- Håkansson, I., 2005. Machinery-Induced Compaction of Arable Soils: Incidence– Consequences–Counter-measures. Reports from the Division of Soil Management, Swedish University of Agricultrual Sciences, Department of Soil Sciences, No. 109.
- Håkansson, I., Lipiec, J., 2000. A review of the usefulness of relative bulk density values in studies of soil structure and compaction. Soil Till. Res. 53, 71–85.
- Håkansson, I., Medvedev, V.W., 1995. Protection of soils from mechanical overloading by establishing limits for stresses caused by heavy vehicles. Soil Till. Res. 35, 85–97.
- Håkansson, I., Reeder, R.C., 1994. Subsoil compaction by vehicles with high axial load-extend, persistence and crop response. Soil Till. Res. 29, 277-304.
- Halvorson, J.J., Gatto, L.W., McCool, D.K., 2003. Overwinter changes to near-surface bulk density, penetration resistance and infiltration rates in compacted soil. J. Terramech. 40, 1–24.
- Hartge, K.H., Bohne, H., 1983. Effect of pore geometry on compressibility of soil and development of rye seedings. Z.f. Kulturtechnik und Flurbereinigung 24, 5–10.

Hasley, T.C., Levine, A.J., 1998. How sandcastles fall. Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 3141-3144.

- Hayashi, Y., Ken'ichirou, K., Mizuyama, T., 2006. Changes in pore size distribution and hydraulic properties of forest soil resulting from structural development. J. Hydrol. 331, 85–102.
- Heitman, J.L., Gaurb, A., Hortonc, R., Jaynesd, D.B., Kaspard, T.C., 2007. Field measurement of soil surface chemical transport properties for comparison of management zones. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 529–536.
- Horn, R., 1981. Eine Methode zur Ermittlung der Druckbelastung von Böden anhand von Drucksetzungsversuchen. Zeitschrift für Kulturtechnik und Flurbereinigung 22 (1), 20–26.
- Horn, R., 2004. Time dependence of soil mechanical properties and pore functions for arable soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68, 1131–1137.
- Horn, R., Smucker, A., 2005. Structure formation and its consequences for gas and water transport in unsaturated arable and forest soils. Soil Till. Res. 82, 5–14.
- Horn, R., Taubner, H., Wuttke, M., Baumgartl, T., 1994. Soil physical properties related to soil structure. Soil Till. Res. 30, 187–216.
- Horn, R., Way, T., Rostek, J., 2003. Effect of repeated tractor wheeling on stress/strain properties and consequences on physical properties in structured arable soils. Soil Till. Res. 73, 101–106.
- Jarvis, N.J., 1994. The MACRO model Version 3.1–Technical description and sample simulations. Reports and Dissertations no. 19, Department of Soil Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, 51 pp.

- Jarvis, N.J., 2007. A review of non-equilibrium water flow and solute transport in soil macropores: principles, controlling factors and consequences for water quality. Eur. I. Soil Sci. 58, 523-546.
- Jarvis, N.J., 2008. Near-saturated hydraulic properties of macroporous soils. Vadose Zone J. 7, 1302-1310.
- Jégou, D., Brunotte, J., Rogasik, H., Capowiez, Y., Diestel, H., Schrader, S., Cluzeau, D., 2002. Impact of soil compaction on earthworm burrow systems using X-ray computed tomography: preliminary study. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 38, 329-336.
- Keller, J., 1970. Sprinkler intensity and soil tilth. Trans. ASAE 13 (6), 118-125. Keller, T., Trautner, A., Arvidsson, J., 2002. Stress distribution and soil displacement
- under a rubber-tracked and a wheeled tractor during ploughing, both on-land and within furrows. Soil Till Res. 68, 39-47.
- Kim, H., Anderson, S.H., Motavalli, P.P., Gantzer, C.J., 2010. Compaction effects on soil macropore geometry and related parameters for an arable field. Geoderma 160.244-251.
- Kirby, J.M., 1991. Strength and deformation of agricultural soil: measurement and practical significance. Soil Use Manage. 7, 223-229.
- Kirby, J.M., Blackwell, P.S., 1989. Design of soil slots to resist wheel track compaction. Soil Technol. 2, 147-161.
- Koekkoec, E.J.W., Booltink, H., 1999. Neural network models to predict soil water retention. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 50, 489-495.
- Koliji, A., Laloui, L., Cuisinier, O., Vuilliet, L., 2006. Suction induced effects on the fabric of a structured soil. Transport Porous Media 64, 261-278.
- Krümmelbein, J., Wang, Z., Zhao, Y., Peth, S., Horn, R., 2006. Influence of various grazing intensities on soil stability, soil structure and water balance of grassland soils in Inner Mongolia, P.R. China. Adv. GeoEcol. 38, 93-101 (ISBN 3-923381-52-2).
- Kulli, B., Gysi, M., Flühler, H., 2003. Visualizing soil compaction based on flow pattern analysis. Soil Till. Res. 70, 29-40.
- Kutílek, M., Nielsen, D.R., 1994. Soil Hydrology. Catena Verlag, Cremlingen-Destedt, Germany, 370 pp.
- Langmaack, M., Röhrig, R., Schrader, S., 1999. Einfluss der Bodenbearbeitung und Bodenverdichtung auf terrestrische Oligocheten (Enchytracine und Lumbricidae) landwirtschaftlicher Nutzfläche Braunschw. Naturkdl. Schr. 5, 105-123 (in German).
- Larsbo, M., Jarvis, N., 2005. Simulating solute transport in a structured field soil: uncertainty in parameter identification and predictions. J. Environ. Qual. 34, 621-634.
- Lee, K.E., Foster, R.C., 1991. Soil fauna and soil structure. Aust. J. Soil Res. 29, 745-775.
- Lenhard, R.J., 1986. Changes in void distribution and volume during compaction of a forest soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 50, 1001-1006.
- Li, X., Zhang, L.M., 2009. Characterization of dual-structure pore-size distribution of soil. Can. Geotech. J. 46, 129-141.
- Lighthill, M.I., Whitham, G.B., 1955. On kinematic waves I, Flood movement in long rivers. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A 299, 281-316.
- Lipiec, J., Håkansson, I., 2000. Influences of degree of compactness and matric water tension on some important plant growth factors. Soil Till. Res. 53, 87–94.
- Lipiec, J., Hatano, R., 2003. Quantification of compaction effects on soil physical properties and crop. Geoderma 116, 107-136.
- Lipiec, J., Hatano, R., Słowińska-Jurkiewicz, A., 1998. The fractal dimension of pore distribution patterns in variously-compacted soil. Soil Till. Res. 47, 61-66.
- Lipiec, J., Arvidsson, J., Murer, E., 2003. Review of modelling crop growth, movement of water and chemicals in relation to topsoil and subsoil compaction. Soil Till. Res 73 15-29
- Lipiec, J., Wójciga, A., Horn, R., 2009. Hydraulic properties of soil aggregates as
- influenced by compaction. Soil Till. Res. 103, 170–177. Liu, C.W., Cheng, S.W., Yu, W.S., Chen, S.K., 2003. Water infiltration rate in cracked paddy soil. Geoderma 117, 169–181.
- Luxmoore, R.J., 1981. Micro-, meso- and macroporosity of soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45, 671-672
- Mapfumo, E., Chanasyk, D.S., Naeth, M.A., Baron, V.S., 1998. Forage growth and yield components as influenced by subsurface compaction. Agron. J. 90, 805-812
- Matthews, G.P., Laudone, G.M., Gregory, A.S., Bird, N.R.A., Matthews, A.G., de, G., Whalley, W.R., 2010. Measurement and simulation of the effect of compaction on the pore structure and saturated hydraulic conductivity of grassland and arable soil. Water Resour. Res. 46 , doi:10.1029/2009WR007720.
- McGarry, D., Malafant, K.W.J., 1987. The analysis of volume change in unconfined units of soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51, 290-297.
- Monroy, R., Zdravkovic, L., Ridley, A., 2010. Evolution of microstructure in compacted London clay during wetting and loading. Geotechnique 60, 105-119.
- Mosaddeghi, M.R., Koolen, A.J., Hajabbasi, M.A., Hemmat, A., Keller, T., 2007. Suitability of pre-compression stress as the real critical stress of unsaturated agricultural soils. Biosys. Eng. 98, 90-101.
- Mualem, Y., Assouline, S., 1989. Modeling soil seal as a non-uniform layer. Water Resour. Res. 25, 2101-2108.
- Müller, L., Tille, P., Kretschmer, H., 1990. Trafficability and workability of alluvial clay soils in response to drainage status. Soil Till. Res. 16, 273-278.
- Nie, Z.N., Ward, G.N., Michael, A.T., 2001. Impact of pugging by dairy cows on pastures and indicators of pugging damage to pasture soil in south-western Victoria. Aust. J. Agricul. Res. 52 (1), 37-43.
- Nimmo, J.R., 1997. Modeling structural influences on soil water retention. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 61, 712-719.
- Oades, J., 1993. The role of biology in the formation, stabilization and degradation of soil structure. In: Brussaard, L., Kooistra, M.J. (Eds.), International Workshop on

Methods of Research on Soil Structure/Biota Interrelationships, Geoderma 56, pp. 377-400.

- Or, D., 1996. Wetting-induced soil structural changes: the theory of liquid phase sintering. Water Resour. Res. 32 (10), 3041-3049, doi:10.1029/96WR02279.
- Or, D., Berli, M., Eggers, C.G., Accorsi, M.L., 2006. Linking soil micro-mechanics and hydraulic conductivity. In: Horn, R., et al. (Eds.), Sustainability-Its Impact on Soil Management and Environment. Catena, Reiskirchen, Germany, pp. 59-70.
- Pachepsky, Ya.A., Timlin, D., Varallyay, G., 1996. Artificial neural networks to estimate soil water retention from easily measurable data. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 60, 727-733.
- Pagliai, M., 1998. Soil porosity aspects. Int. Agrophys. 4, 215-232.
- Pagliai, M., Marsili, A., Servadio, P., Vignzzi, N., Pellegrini, S., 2003. Changes in some physical properties of a clay soil in Central Italy following the passage of rubber tracked and wheeled tractors of medium power. Soil Till. Res. 73, 119-129.
- Panayiotopoulos, K.P., Papadopoulou, C.P., Hatjiioannidou, A., 1994. Compaction and penetration resistance of an Alfisol and Entisol and their influence on root growth of maize seedlings. Soil Till. Res. 4, 323-337.
- Peng, X., Horn, R., 2008. Time-dependent, anisotropic pore structure and soil strength in a 10-year period after intensive tractor wheeling under conservation and conventional tillage. J. Plant Nutrition Soil Sci. 171, 936-944.
- Peng, X., Horn, R., Smucker, A., 2007. Pore shrinkage dependency of inorganic and organic soils on wetting and drying cycles. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 71, 1095-1104.
- Perret, J., Prasher, S.O., Kantzas, A., Langford, C., 1999a. Three-dimensional quantification of macropore networks in undisturbed soil cores. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63, 1530-1543
- Perret, J., Prasher, S.O., Kantzas, A., Langford, C., 1999b. Three-dimensional quantification of macropore networks in unsaturated soil cores. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63, 1530-1543
- Peth, S., Nellesen, J., Fischer, G., Horn, R., 2010. Non-invasive 3D analysis of local soil deformation under mechanical and hydraulic stresses by µCT and digital image correlation. Soil Till. Res. 111, 3-18.
- Rajkai, K., Kabos, S., van Genuchten, M.Th., Jansson, P.E., 1996. Estimation of water retention characteristics from bulk density and particle distribution of Swedish soils. Soil Sci. 161, 832-845.
- Rajkai, K., Vegh, K.R., Varallyay, G., Farkas, C.S., 1997. Impacts of soil structure on crop growth. Int. Agrophys. 11, 97-109.
- Reszkowska, A., Krümmelbein, J., Gan, L., Peth, S., Horn, R., 2011. Influence of grazing on soil water and gas fluxes of two inner Mongolian steppe ecosystems. Soil Till. Res. 111, 180-189.
- Richard, G., Cousin, I., Sillon, J.F., Bruand, A., Guérif, J., 2001. Effect of compaction on the porosity of a silty soil: influence on unsaturated hydraulic properties. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 52, 49-58.
- Richards, L.A., 1931. Capillary conduction of liquids in porous mediums. Physics 1, 318-333.
- Roger-Estrade, J., Richard, G., Boizard, H., Boiffin, J., Caneill, J., Manichon, H., 2000. Modelling structural changes in tilled topsoil over time as a function of cropping systems. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 51, 455-474.
- Sadegh-Zadeh, F., Samsuri, A.W., Seh-Bardan, B.J., 2008. Movement of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizers in undisturbed soil columns as affected by soil compaction. Int. J. Soil Sci. 3 (3), 157–163. Salager, S., El Youssoufi, M.S., Saix, C., 2010. Effect of temperature on water retention
- phenomena in deformable soils: theoretical and experimental aspects. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 61, 97-107.
- Schäffer, B., Stauber, M., Müller, R., Schulin, R., 2007, Changes in the macro-pore structure of restored soil caused by compaction beneath heavy agricultural machinery: a morphometric study. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 58, 1062-1073.
- Schäffer, B., Stauber, M., Mueller, T.L., Müller, R., Schulin, R., 2008. Soil and macropores under uniaxial compression. I. Mechanical stability of repacked soil and deformation of different types of macro-pores. Geoderma 146, 183-191.
- Scherer, G.W., 1977. Sintering of low-density glasses. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 60 (5-6), 236 - 246
- Scherer, G.W., 1984. Viscous sintering of a bimodal pore-size distribution. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 67 (11), 709-715.
- Sekera, F., 1951. Gesunder und kranker Boden, third ed. Paul Parey Publisher, Berlin (Healthy and sick soil, in German).
- Servadio, P., Marsili, A., Pagliai, M., Pellegrini, S., Vignozzi, N., 2001. Effects on some clay soil qualities following the passage of rubber-tracked and wheeled tractors in central Italy. Soil Till. Sci. 61, 143–155. Sigala, L.H., 1968. Settlement of an unstable silt loam soil during irrigation. M.S.
- Thesis, Utah State Univ., Logan, 55 pp.
- Simms, P.H., Yanful, E.K., 2001. Measurement and estimation of pore shrinkage and pore distribution in a clayey till during soil-water characteristic curve tests. Can. Geotech. J. 38, 741-754.
- Šimůnek, J., Jarvis, N.J., van Genuchten, M.Th., Gardenas, A., 2003. Review and comparison of models for describing non-equilibrium and preferential flow and transport in the vadose zone. J. Hydrol. 272, 14-35.
- Sisavath, S., Jing, S.D., Zimmerman, R.W., 2000. Effect of stress on the hydraulic conductivity of rock pores. Phys. Chem. Earth A 25, 163-168.
- Soane, B.D., van Ouwerkerk, C. (Eds.), 1994. Compaction in Crop Production, Developments in Agricultural Engineering Series, 11. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp. 662.
- Sposito, G., Giráldez, J.V., 1976. Thermodynamic stability and law of corresponding states in swelling soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 40, 352-358.
- Stirk, G.B., 1954. Some aspects of soil shrinkage and the effect of cracking upon air entry into the soil. Aust. J. Soil Res. 5, 279-290.

- Taboada, M.A., Lavado, R.S., 1993. Influence of cattle trampling on soil porosity under alternate dry and ponded conditions. Soil Use Manage. 9, 139–143, doi:10.1111/j.1475-2743.1993.tb00943.x.
- Tarantino, A., Tombolato, S., 2005. Coupling of hydraulic and mechanical behaviour in unsaturated compacted clay. Geotechnique 55, 307–317.
- Tarawally, M.A., Medina, H., Frometa, M.E., Itza, C.A., 2004. Field compaction at different soil-water status: effects on pore size distribution and soil water characteristics of a Rhodic Ferrasol in Western Cuba. Soil Till. Res. 76, 95– 103.
- Tariq, A., Durnford, D.S., 1993. Soil volumetric shrinkage measurements: a simple method. Soil Sci. 155, 325–330.
- Tisdall, J., Oades, J., 1982. Organic matter and water stable aggregates in soils. J. Soil Sci. 33, 141–163, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.1982.tb01755.x.
- Tuller, M., Or, D., 2001. Hydraulic conductivity of variably saturated porous media: film and corner flow in angular pore space. Water Resour. Res. 37 (5), 1257– 1276, doi:10.1029/2000WR900328.
- Türk, T., Mahr, A., Horn, R., 1991. Tensiometrische Untersuchungen an Aggregaten in homogenisiertem Löss. Z. Pflanzeernaehr. Bodenkd. 154, 361–368.
- Udawatta, R.P., Anderson, S.H., 2008. CT-measured pore characteristics of surface and subsurface soils influenced by agroforestry and grass buffers. Geoderma 145, 381–389.
- Udawatta, R.P., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J., Garrett, H.E., 2008. Influence of Prairie restoration on CT-measured soil pore characteristics. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 219– 228.
- van Dijck, S.J.E., van Asch, Th.W.J., 2002. Compaction of loamy soils due to tractor traffic in vineyards and orchards and its effect on infiltration in southern France. Soil Till. Res. 63, 141–153.
- van Genuchten, M.Th., 1980. A closed-form equation for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 44, 892–898.
- Velde, B., Moreau, E., Terribile, F., 1996. Pore networks in an Italian vertisol: quantitative characterization by two dimensional image analysis. Geoderma 72, 271–285, doi:10.1016/0016-7061(96)00033-X.

- Vogeler, I., Horn, R., Wetzel, H., Kruemmelbein, J., 2006. Tillage effects on soil strength and solute transport. Soil Till. Res. 88, 193–204.
- Vzzotto, V.R., Marchezan, E., Segabinazzi, T., 2000. Effects of cattle trampling on lowland soil physical properties. Ciencia Rural. 30, 965–969.
- Walczak, R., 1977. Model investigations of water binding energy in soils of different compaction. Zesz. Probl. Post. Nauk Roln. 197, 11–43.
- Walczak, R.T., Witkowska-Walczak, B., Baranowski, P., 1997. Soil structure parameters in models of crop growth and yield prediction. Phys. models. Int. Agrophys. 11, 111–127.
- Ward, R.C., Robinson, M., 1990. Principles of Hydrology. McGraw-Hill, London, 365 pp.
- Warner, G.S., Stake, J.D., Guillard, K., Neafsey, J., 1997. Evaluation of EPIC for a shallow New England soil. II. Soil nitrate. Trans. ASAE 40, 585–593.
- Weisskopf, P., Reiser, R., Rek, J., Oberholzer, H.R., 2010. Effect of different compaction impacts and varying subsequent management practices on soil structure, air regime and microbiological parameters. Soil Till. Res. 111, 65–74.
- Whalley, W.R., Watts, C.W., Gregory, A.S., Mooney, S.J., Clark, L.J., Whitmore, A.P., 2008. The effect of soil strength on the yield of wheat. Plant Soil 306, 237– 247.
- Wójciga, A., Bolte, K., Horn, R., Stępniewski, W., Bajuk, E., 2009. Surface shear resistance of soils on the micro- to mesoscale. Int. Agrophys. 23, 391– 398.
- Wösten, J.H.M., Lilly, A., Nemes, A., Le Bas, C., 1999. Development and use of a database of hydraulic properties of European soils. Geoderma 90, 169–185.
- Wu, L., Allmaras, R.R., Gimenez, D., Huggins, D.M., 1997. Shrinkage and water retention characteristic in a fine-textured Mollisol compacted under different axle loads. Soil Till. Res. 44, 179–194.
- Zhang, S., Grip, H., Lövdahl, L., 2006. Effect of soil compaction on hydraulic properties of two loess soils in China. Soil Till. Res. 90, 117–125.
- Zhao, Y., Peth, S., Horn, R., Krümmelbein, J., Ketzer, B., Gao, Y., Doerner, J., Bernhofer, C., Peng, X., 2010. Modeling grazing effects on coupled water and heat fluxes in Inner Mongolia grassland. Soil Till. Res. 109, 75–86.